1988

## Gwen Lorenc v. John Reed Call : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(i).

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Whether Defendants' school fee and waiver policy on its face or as applied to Plaintiff violated Utah Code Ann. §53-7a-1 and 2, School Fees Policy of the Utah State Board of Education, or the due process and equal protection clauses of the Utah and U. S. Constitutions?

**RELEVANT CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND REGULATIONS**

Utah Constitution, former Article X, Section 8, Article X, Sections 2 and 3; Utah Code Ann. §53-7a-1 and 2; Utah State Board of Education, School Fees Policy (June 3, 1986); Granite School District Administrative Memorandum Number Twenty-Four (July 29, 1986). See Addendum for full text.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed this action seeking declaratory and injunctive relief against Defendants' school fee and fee waiver policy. After a bench trial, the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson dismissed Plaintiff's complaint no cause of action (R.104).

Plaintiff is the mother of six children. Two of these children, Brandi and Michael, attended West Lake Junior High School (R. 215, 221) and Catherine attended Granger High School during the 1986-87 school year (R. I-89). These schools are operated by Defendants. Plaintiff was advised that fees would be assessed her children for participation in certain classes and in school activities (R. 246, Ex. P-7). In September, 1986, Plaintiff sought waiver of these fees (R. 229, Ex. P-8) and was denied a waiver at Granger High because she was not receiving public assistance (R. 229). Plaintiff appealed of this denial to the district level and had an informal meeting on November 5, 1986, with McKell Withers, Staff Associate for Pupil Services, Granite School District (R. 332). He again denied her request for a fee waiver and after repeated requests and the commencement of this litigation, scheduled a formal hearing on March 9, 1987 (R. 338). Defendants again denied Plaintiff's request for a fee waiver by written decision on March 30, 1987 (R. 339, Ex. D-14). Plaintiff's children have been unable to attend school events (R. 222-24), to fully participate in classes (R. 216-7), or to receive class credit without paying a book fee that should have

been waived (R. 199-205) because of their inability to pay the required fees.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Plaintiff contends that she is eligible for a waiver of school fees for her junior high and senior high school children who are students in Defendants' schools. The policy adopted by Defendants violates regulations of the Utah State Board of Education, Utah law, the Utah Constitution and the U. S. Constitution on its face and as applied by restricting those eligible for waivers to persons receiving public assistance, by maintaining a secret second policy of waivers and by delaying appeal procedures.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT I**

#### **DEFENDANTS' FEE WAIVER POLICY VIOLATES UTAH STATE LAW.**

In 1986 the Utah Legislature adopted Utah Code Ann. §53-7a-1 and 2 which established the policy of this state that no fees or other charges may be assessed for elementary or secondary school students unless authorized by a local Board of Education under rules adopted by the State Board of Education and that each local Board shall ensure that waivers of fees charged are available so that no student is denied the opportunity to participate in activities, classes, or programs sponsored by schools within that district.

Defendants' fee waiver policy is articulated in Exhibit 12, Administrative Memorandum Number Twenty-Four - Charging of



Fees in Granite School District, issued July 29, 1986 (reprinted at Addendum p. 4-1), and in Exhibit 7, a letter sent to Plaintiff and other Granite District parents by Defendant Call on July 16, 1986.

Plaintiff's children have been denied the opportunity to fully participate in classes (R. 218), and in activities (R. 222-23) at their schools based on their inability to pay fees and Defendants' delay in finally resolving Plaintiff's application for a fee waiver. In this most fundamental aspect, Defendants have violated the letter and the spirit of state law.

## **POINT II**

### **DEFENDANTS' FEE WAIVER POLICY VIOLATES REGULATIONS PROMULGATED BY THE UTAH STATE BOARD OF EDUCATION.**

The statute here, Utah Code Ann. §53-7a-1, establishes a two level system of regulation of school fees and their waiver. First, the State Board of Education must adopt rules on fees and waiver pursuant to its constitutional grant of authority in Article X, Section 8 (now Article X, Section 3) of the Utah Constitution and its statutory grant of authority in Utah Code Ann. §53-2-12(2) and 53-2-12.1(1)(b). Local boards can charge fees only if they are "authorized" by the local board "under rules adopted by the State Board of Education."

On June 2, 1986, the Utah State Board of Education promulgated regulations to implement Utah Code Ann. §53-7a-1 and 2. Exhibit 6 (reprinted in Addendum at p. 2-1) now codified at Utah Admin. Code, R. 300-407-1 (with slight modifications in

numbering) provided that fees for students in junior high and high school may be charged in connection with school sponsored activities and class work provided that the fees had been set and approved by the local Board of Education in accordance with state board policies, that parents receive written notice of fee schedules and fee waiver policies and that local boards provide for adequate waivers of school fees. The State Board established certain requirements for fee waiver policies including the following

C.5. ... (b) The process for obtaining waivers or pursuing alternatives is administered fairly, objectively, and without delay...;

(c) Students who have been granted waivers or provisions in lieu of fee waivers are not treated differently from other students...

(d) Fee waivers or other provisions in lieu of fee waivers are available to all students who are in state custody or receiving public assistance in the form of aid to dependent children, general relief, supplemental security income, or foster care, and others whose parents or guardians are financially unable to pay...

(g) An appeal process is available, including the opportunity to appeal to the board or its designee... (Emphasis added)

(now codified as R. 300-407-6 A(2), (3), (4) and (7))

Defendants' fee waiver policy is inconsistent with the state regulations in several respects. First and most importantly, Defendants' policy restricts fee waivers to recipients of certain welfare programs rather than including other families who are unable to pay deposits and fees, such as Plaintiff's family. Other violations include a lack of time tables to prevent delay in obtaining waivers (here, seven months until a decision was

made on Plaintiff's request), a lack of provision for parents to review proposed alternatives to fee waivers, and a lack of any guidelines for an appeal when fee waivers are denied. The waiver policy of Defendants allows fees to be waived for

students whose parents or legal guardians are the recipients of Public Assistance in the form of Aid to Dependent Children, General Relief, Supplemental Security Income, Foster Care, or other benefits provided through the Department of Social Services due to a limited financial ability within the family. (The receipt of Unemployment Compensation and/or free or reduced price school lunches does not constitute public assistance as above defined.)

(Ex. 12, p. 3)

This first difference is critical. At the beginning of the 1986-87 school year, Plaintiff, a mother of six (R. 225), had a net income of \$1,006.00 per month (Ex. P-9). She was not receiving any of the specified forms of public assistance (R. 252-53). Her income placed her below the federal poverty guidelines for a family of her size (R. 254). She considered herself unable to pay the fees of \$30.00 per junior high student (Ex. P-7) and \$40.00 per senior high student (Ex. D-16) plus fees for individual classes such as Industrial Woods (Ex. D-22), or Personal Finance (R. 199). She orally applied for a waiver on September 3, 1986 (R. 228) and applied again in writing on September 5, 1986 (Ex. P-8). She requested a waiver and a hearing even though on its face, the Granite District policy made her ineligible for a fee waiver since she was not receiving welfare. After meeting with the high school principal and being

denied a waiver, she was referred to the Pupil Services office where McKell Withers again denied her request for a waiver based on her non-receipt of welfare (Ex. D-13, R. 242, R. 334) and advised her that she could have another hearing with him. That hearing took place on March 9, 1987, and resulted in yet another denial of the fee waiver (Ex. D-14, R. 340-41).

A waiver is clearly defined in the State Board regulations as "release from the requirement of payment of a fee and from any provision in lieu of fee payment" (Ex. P-6, p. 2). Throughout this procedure Defendants continually reiterated their policy that only persons receiving "specified public assistance" qualified for a waiver. They have attempted to circumvent these regulations by creating something called a "partial waiver" which is merely another name for a waiver denial. However, their basic policy remains unchanged: only recipients of public assistance qualify for waivers. All others are denied waivers. This violates the State Board regulations.

Somehow the trial court found that Defendants' regulations conformed with the State Board regulations (R. 389, Conclusions of Law #3 and 4, R.101) in the determination of eligibility for waivers. This is the crux of this appeal. Plaintiff never had the opportunity to demonstrate her inability to pay fees (R. 252) and receive a fee waiver because, by operation of Defendants' policy, she was excluded unless she received public assistance. She did not and was therefore automatically denied.

### POINT III

#### **PLAINTIFF'S RIGHTS TO SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS AND TO EQUAL PROTECTION OF LAW HAVE BEEN VIOLATED AND CONTINUE TO BE VIOLATED BY DEFENDANTS' PUBLISHED AND SECRET FEE WAIVER POLICIES.**

As mentioned above, Defendants finally conducted an administrative hearing to consider Plaintiff's fee waiver request on March 9, 1987. This hearing was conducted without any written notice, without any written rules of procedure, and without any real opportunity to receive a fee waiver, since the only question was whether Plaintiff was eligible for public assistance. The hearing officer, McKell Withers, stated that in addition to the written policy of Defendants, articulated in Administrative Memorandum Number Twenty-four, (Ex. D-12) the District also has an unpublished policy of granting waivers to persons who qualify for public assistance but have chosen not to accept it and fee reductions to parents who receive food stamps or free school lunches for their children. Plaintiff was offered such a fee reduction based on her children's eligibility for free school lunches. Defendants' use of such an unwritten policy violates Plaintiff's constitutional rights since there is no way that she or any other parent is aware of this policy, how to apply for it, or how this unpublished policy fits with Defendants' written policy. Furthermore, this hidden policy, like Defendants' written policy, violates state statute and State Board of Education regulations in its exclusion of needy families not receiving or eligible for welfare.

Defendants' secret policy is revealed in Exhibits P-24 and P-14 and in testimony of McKell Withers. The secret policy, which was never published or distributed to parents (R. 351) actually creates two new categories of possible waiver recipients, those eligible for the specified public assistance who have chosen not to accept it, and those suffering a "short term catastrophic situation" (Ex. D-14), however Plaintiff was not told of these other categories she might fit within. The secret policy is also the only written version of the eligibility criteria for reduced fees, namely the receipt of food stamps or free school lunches, which ironically prevent a waiver according to the published regulations.

Agencies, including school districts, must articulate the basis for their decisions and must act in accordance with published standards. Morton v. Ruiz, 415 U.S. 199 (1974). Likewise the agency cannot violate previously stated rules without running afoul of due process. "For due process reasons, these standards should be publicly promulgated and written precisely enough to give fair warning as to what the standards for decision will be." Harnett v. Bd. of Zoning, Subdivision and Building Appeals, 350 F.Supp. 1159, 1161 (D.V.I. 1972). Even in situations like this, where the hidden standards seem broader than the published standards, due process and equal protection require that legally valid standards be properly adopted, affected parties made aware of those standards, and hearings conducted in compliance with the published standards.

Plaintiff's due process rights have also been violated by the excessive delay between her initial application for fee waivers on September 3, 1986, and the decision on her appeal, March 30, 1987. During this time, seven months had passed, more than two-thirds of the school year. In U. S. v. \$23,407.69 in U. S. Currency, 715 F.2d 162 (5th Cir. 1983), the court found that a long delay in initiating forfeiture proceedings violated due process and required dismissal. And in a case analogous to this case, Plitt v. Madden, 413 A.2d 867,873 (Del. 1980), the Delaware Supreme Court found a denial of due process because of delay. There, the student's parents requested an evaluation to determine the correct educational placement of their child.

In June, 1974 plaintiff had requested a professional evaluation of her daughter's education status for the coming year. Yet the local Learning Disability Committee was not convened to consider the child's qualification for learning disability assistance for the 1974-75 school year until September 12, and then did so at a meeting as to which plaintiff had no notice or opportunity to be heard; and such rights were not accorded plaintiff until November, 1974 with the result that plaintiff's child was not ultimately determined to be learning disabled until January, 1975 by which time the school year was half over... the local District failed to accord plaintiffs due process in both the procedures employed and the lateness of invoking such procedures so as to effectively deprive plaintiff's child of her right as to educational opportunities as a learning disabled child for the school year 1974-75.

Likewise here, justice delayed is justice denied.

Plaintiff has also been denied her right, guaranteed by Article X, Section 2 of the Utah Constitution to have her

children attend free public schools except as to certain fees authorized by the legislature.

Plaintiff's due process rights were also violated by Defendants' use of an improper legal standard in their determinations of eligibility for waivers, namely receipt of public assistance. The trial court should have applied a correction-of-error standard in reviewing the District's actions and this Court should use the same standard. "Examples of this correction-of-errors type of review include whether the Commission has complied with the fairness requirements of due process..." Utah Department of Admin. Services v. Public Service Commission, 658 P.2d 601, 608 (Utah 1983). Relying on this standard, Defendants' decision is in error and the trial court decision should be reversed.

To comply with due process of law as articulated by this Court in analyzing the Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7 and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U. S. Constitution, Defendants should have notified Plaintiff and other parents that each family would be evaluated on a case by case basis to determine inability to pay if they did not fall into one of the specified categories of welfare recipients. The notice to parents should explain this process and set short timelines for decision making and appeals. The notices for hearing should be in writing and articulate the hearing procedure. The hearing officer should be clearly designated. Appeals should be heard by an impartial decisionmaker. The policy of the local district



should be conformed to the State Board policy. The policy should clearly state that pending the outcome of an appeal, students should be allowed to fully participate in all school activities as if they had paid fees. In this way Plaintiff and other parents' constitutional and statutory rights would be protected.

Plaintiff's equal protection rights have been violated because other parents in other school districts with similar income and resources will be granted waivers based on local rules which comply with the State Board regulations. Under any level of scrutiny, this distinction is unsupportable.

#### **POINT IV**

#### **THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW MISSTATE THE LAW AND THE EVIDENCE.**

A number of the trial court's findings and conclusions are clearly erroneous. Finding No. 12c incorrectly states the law as interpreted by the State Board regulations and witness Bates (R. 178). Findings No. 13, 22, 23 and 24 conflict with testimony of witness Moss (R. 131) and witness Bates (R. 176). The trial court should have deferred to these witnesses in interpreting their own regulations. Similarly, Conclusions No. 3, 4, 5 and 10 are not supported by testimony or other evidence. This also provides a basis for reversal of the trial court's decision.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Defendants denied Plaintiff her substantive right to waiver of school fees. The procedures utilized in this denial

violated due process. The trial court misconstrued the statute providing for fee waivers, misapplied the law and affirmed the denial of Plaintiff's rights by focusing on irrelevant aspects of the state regulations and ignoring the core of the statute. The trial court decision should be reversed, Defendants' policy declared invalid and attorneys fees awarded to Plaintiff.