1989

Gwen Lorenc v. John Reed Call : Brief of Respondents

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Granite maintains that its fee waiver policy is constitutional. In addition, both the fee and waiver policies are consistent with Utah Statutes and the State Policy. Although Granite's policy limits automatic eligibility for full waivers to those receiving specified types of public assistance, that limitation is also consistent with state statute and the State Policy. The fact that eligibility for alternatives to a full waiver are unwritten and decided after application for waiver has been made does not invalidate either Granite's policies or procedure.

Granite also maintains that a four month interval between consideration of Lorenc's case and the appeal hearing on her case did not deprive Lorenc of her right to due process, particularly when scheduling of the second appeal was affected not only by Granite's actions but also those of her attorney.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. The Trial Court's Findings are Presumed Correct.

The Utah Supreme Court presumes that a trial court's findings of fact are correct. Hal Taylor Assoc. v. UnionAmerica, Inc., 657 P.2d 743, 747 (Utah 1982). If evidence is conflicting, the reviewing court assumes that the trial court believed those witnesses who favor its finding. Id. at 749. Those presumptions are overcome only if the challenger is able to show that the findings are not supported by substantial evidence in the record. Id. at 747. See also, Scharf v. BMG Corp., 700 P.2d 1068, 1070 (Utah 1985) ("an appellant must marshal all the evidence in support of the trial court's findings and then demonstrate that even viewing it in the light most favorable to the court below, the evidence is insufficient to support the findings.")

Although Lorenc has challenged the trial court's findings in her appeal, she has failed to carry her burden in showing that there is insufficient evidence to support those findings. The findings of the trial court are therefore presumed to be correct.

B. This Court Reviews the Trial Court's Conclusions of Law.

The Supreme Court does not defer to the trial court's interpretation of law. Betenson v. Call Auto & Equip. Sales, Inc., 645 P.2d 684 (Utah 1982). This brief will demonstrate why the trial court's conclusions are correct.

II. GRANITE MAY IMPOSE TEXTBOOK RENTAL FEES, AFTER-SCHOOL ACTIVITY FEES, AND FEES FOR OPTIONAL CONSUMABLE WORKBOOKS AND OPTIONAL PROJECTS.

A. Granite's Fee Policy is Consistent with the Utah Constitution and Utah Statute.

Both the Utah Constitution and state statute permit assessment of fees.⁴

Utah Const. Art. X, § 2 now provides in part:

Public elementary and secondary schools shall be free, except the Legislature may authorize the imposition of fees in the secondary schools. (Emphasis Added).

That provision includes the 1986 amendment which became effective July 1, 1987. Prior to that date and at the time the events herein occurred, Utah Const. Art. X, § 2 provided:

The common schools shall be free. The other departments of the system shall be supported as provided by law. (Emphasis Added).

"Common schools" meant only the first through eighth grades.

4 The complete text of all consitutional and statutory provi-
sions cited is found in Addendum "F".

Logan City School Dist. v. Kowallis, 94 Utah 342, 77 P.2d 348 (1938). Both constitutional provisions permit assessment of fees in grades nine through twelve.⁵

In 1986, the Utah Legislature authorized fees in secondary schools through enactment of Utah Code Ann. §§ 53-7a-1, -2 (Supp. 1987).⁶ The statutory authorization is well within the constitutional mandate and permits a local school district to authorize student fees under rules adopted by the State Board of Education. See, Id.

On June 3, 1986, the Utah State Board of Education then adopted the State Policy which sets forth standards governing assessment of fees in Utah schools. See Addendum "C". The State Policy provides in part that:

Standards

A. Classes and Activities During the Regular School Day.⁷

5 The language of the Utah constitution distinguishes this case from cases in which the state constitution provides for "free schools" without any reference to financial support or assessment of fees. See, e.g., Granger v. Cascade County School District No. 1, 499 P.2d 780 (Mont. 1972).

6 Utah Code Ann. § 53-2-1 et seq. which was in effect at the time events complained of in this case occurred has now been amended by Utah Code Ann. § 53A-1-101 et seq. effective February 2, 1988.

7 Regular school day was addressed by this court in Starkey v. Bd. of Educ. of Davis County Sch. Dist., 14 Utah 2d 227, 381 P.2d 718 (1963).

* * *

2. Textbook, lab and other course related fees may only be charged in grades nine through twelve.

* * *

4. Students of all grade levels may be required to provide materials for their optional projects.

* * *

B. School Activities Outside of the Regular School Day

1. Fees may be charged . . . in connection with any school-sponsored activity, regardless of the age or grade level of the student, if participation is voluntary and does not affect the students grade or ability to participate fully in any course taught during the regular school day.

The State Policy defined an optional project as "[a] project chosen and retained by a student in a vocational or other class where projects are part of the curriculum, in lieu of a meaningful and productive project otherwise available to the student which would require only school-supplied materials.

The only limitation in the State Policy affecting assessment of such fees is that:

3. Students must be able to enroll and participate in any class, and have the opportunity to acquire all skills and knowledge required for full credit and highest grades, without paying a fee.

B. Granite's Fee Policies are Within the Standards Prescribed in the State Policy.

Administrative Memorandum Number Twenty Four ("hereinafter Granite Memorandum") sets forth the fee policy of the Granite School District. It provides that:

5. Fees as approved by the local board of education may be charged for school activities outside of the regular school day.

6. Textbook, lab, and other course-related fees may only be charged in grades nine through twelve.

7. Students of all grade levels may be required to provide materials for their optional projects.

These standards mirror those set forth in the State Policy. Furthermore, the same limitation found in the State Policy is also found in the Granite Memorandum:

2. Students must be able to enroll and participate in any class, and have the opportunity to acquire all skills and knowledge required for full credit and highest grades, without paying a fee.

Granite's fee policy clearly incorporates and complies with the state standards. The fee schedule published in the Granite Memorandum reflects the fees approved by the Granite Board of Education for the 1986-1987 school year. See Addendum "D".

C. Fees Imposed by Granite for Which no Waiver is Permitted Allow Students to Enroll, Participate and Receive Full Credit and Highest Grades Without Payment of Fees.

Lorenc complains of the following fees: (R. 209 at 16, 21):

Book Rental (\$10.00 Refundable)	\$25.00 (Jr. High)
Book Rental (\$10.00 Refundable)	25.00 (Sr. High)
After School Activity (Optional)	5.00 (Jr. High)
After School Activity (Optional)	15.00 (Sr. High)
Workbook for Personal Finance (Optional)	6.00
Shop Optional Project Fee	13.00
Optional Art Fee	10.00

All of these fees are approved by the State Policy. (R. 68-69). A waiver is available for each of these fees except the optional shop project and art fees and consumable elective personal finance workbook.⁸ A waiver of these optional fees is not, however, required by the State Policy or Granite Memorandum.

Both policies provide that [s]tudents of all grade levels may be required to provide materials for their optional class projects. (R. 46, 71). The Lorenc children were able to enroll, participate, and receive full credit and highest grades in the courses related to those materials without purchasing those

⁸ Even though Lorenc did not qualify for a full waiver, she was offered partial waivers of all except the "consumable" portions of the optional shop project and art fee, and the consumable and elective personal finance workbook. (See, Addendum "E" at E-3).

materials and payment of those fees. (R. 209 at 74, 110). As a result, no waiver is required for those courses.

III. GRANITE MAY LIMIT ELIGIBILITY FOR FULL WAIVERS TO THOSE RECEIVING PUBLIC ASSISTANCE.

A. Granite's Fee-Waiver Policy is Authorized by Utah Statute and Complies with the Utah Board of Education School Fees Policy.

Utah Code Ann. § 53-7a-1 (Supp. 1987) permitted a local school district to authorize student fees under rules adopted by the State Board of Education. As noted above, fees authorized in Granite's Memorandum mirror those standards. Utah Code Ann. § 53-7a-2 (Supp. 1987), however, conditioned assessment of fees by the local board of education upon availability of waivers "to ensure that no student is denied the opportunity to participate because of an inability to pay the required fee, deposit, or charge." Nowhere in the statute itself or legislative history was "inability to pay" defined. Fortunately, some detail is provided by the State Policy which provides for waivers as follows:

Fee waivers or other provisions in lieu of fee waivers are available to all students who are in state custody or receiving public assistance in the form of aid to dependent children, general relief, supplemental income, or foster care, and others whose parents or guardians are financially unable to pay. (Emphasis Added).

Inability to pay is defined, at least in part, as those receiving the enumerated public assistance. Unfortunately a vague "catch

all" provision is then included which still leaves open the question of how to define inability to pay. Precise definition was left to the local school board.

Accordingly, Granite's fee-waiver policy as set forth in Administrative Memorandum Number Twenty Four specifically provides:

Fees, as identified by the Granite School District Board of Education, will be waived in accord with Utah State Board of Education standards for students whose parents or legal guardians are the recipients of public assistance in the form of Aid to Dependent Children, General Relief, Supplemental Security Income, Foster Care, or other benefits provided through the Department of Social Services due to a limited financial ability with the family. (The receipt of unemployment compensation and/or free or reduced price school lunches does not constitute public assistance as above defined.)

Although the operative language is nearly identical to that of the State Policy, Granite adds the phrase "or other benefits provided through the Department of Social Services due to a limited financial ability within the family" to more clearly define inability to pay. This definition specifies that those eligible for waivers must be eligible to receive either the enumerated federal or state benefits or other benefits provided through the Department of Social Services due to limited financial ability within the family. It is not only within the mandate of Utah Code Ann. § 53-7a-2 (Supp. 1987), requiring the local board to

provide waivers, but also articulates and gives notice of the applicable standard governing eligibility for such waivers. The Granite policy imposes a less arbitrary guideline than that found in either the statute itself or the State Policy.

Although the Granite definition is more specific than the language in the State Policy, the definition is consistent with the state standard and the procedure envisioned by the legislature for making such determinations. Utah Code Ann.

§ 53-2-12(2) (Supp. 1987) provided that:

(2) The [state] board may adopt rules and guidelines which have broad application, as opposed to the direct governance, management, and operation of school districts, institutions, and programs, in accordance with the board's responsibilities under the constitution and state laws.

That provision permitted the State Board of Education to adopt broad rules and guidelines but leaves to the local board the responsibility for managing specific programs. More particularly, with respect to the fee waiver policy, the local district is charged with making the factual determination of whether a given individual is able to pay the school fees assessed. (R. 146, 147). By specifying those who are eligible for waivers, Granite's definition makes such a determination.

The trial court agreed with this analysis, finding that the State Board had failed to give definitive guidelines to the

school districts for ascertaining when a patron is unable to pay assessed fees. That failure left the responsibility to determine the criterion that best served the interests of the patrons of the local districts to the local board.

Granite's fee-waiver policy is consistent with both state statute and State Board of Education guidelines. Its definition of "inability to pay" enables more uniform application of the waiver guidelines.

B. "Inability to Pay" is Determined by the Local District Rather than the State Board.

Lorenc contends that the "inability to pay" language of the statute and State Policy requires Granite to provide her with a waiver. The unstated assertion is that her economic condition would make her eligible for a fee waiver under the State Policy definition but not under the Granite definition. In support of that contention, Lorenc asserts that her monthly income is below the federal poverty guideline and therefore that she is unable to pay. See Addendum "E" at E-2. She admits, however, that she does not receive any public assistance as is enumerated in the State Policy or Granite Memorandum. (R. 209 at 17).

The fact that Lorenc's monthly income is below the federal poverty guideline does not automatically qualify her for the various types of assistance available through the department of

Social Services. It also does not automatically qualify her for a waiver under the State Policy. As noted by the State Superintendent of Education at trial, the local district and not the state board makes the determination as to when a patron is unable to pay assessed fees. (R. 146, 147).

Although Granite's definition does not use the federal poverty guidelines as a guide, it complies with both the State Policy and Utah statute.

IV. GRANITE'S FEE WAIVER POLICY AND PROCEDURE ARE CONSTITUTIONAL.

A. Appellant's Constitutional Rights Have Not Been Violated by Delay.

Gwen Lorenc claims that her constitutional right to due process was violated due to delay in having her case considered by Granite. That claim is without merit.

Due process requires that every party must have an opportunity to be heard and introduce evidence to establish his case or defense. See, Utah Const. art. I, § 7. See also, Celebrity Club, Inc. v. Utah Liquor Control Comm'n, 657 P.2d 1293, 1296 (Utah 1982). Lorenc has had three such opportunities. The first was in her initial meeting with McKell Withers of the Granite District Office People's Services on November 5, 1987. At trial Withers testified that he considered Mrs. Lorenc's gross income and letter reciting her income and family size at that

initial meeting. (R. 209 at 121). See Addendum "E" at E-2. She had ample opportunity at that time to submit any and all information she wished. (R. 209 at 121, 125).

Lorenc had a second opportunity to be heard and introduce evidence at the hearing held March 9, 1987. At that hearing, she had the added benefit of being represented by counsel and presenting witnesses to support her claims. (R. 209 at 127). The third opportunity arose at the trial of this case. Lorenc was again represented by counsel and called several witnesses to support her position.

Due process also requires that remedies shall be administered without unnecessary delay. See, Utah Const. art I, § 11. There was no delay in hearing Lorenc's application. The interval between the initial application for a fee waiver on September 5 and the meeting with McKell Withers on November 5, in which her claims were considered, was only one month. After the November 5 hearing and Withers's consideration of the supplemental information she had submitted, Lorenc requested a second hearing for reconsideration of the matter. That hearing was held March 9, 1987. The interval between the November hearing and the March 9 appeal before the school district was four months and four days. These short intervals are not delays which deprive Lorenc of her right to due process.

Lorenc cites Plitt v. Madden, 413 A.2d 867, 873 (Del. 1980) in support of her claim that the delay involved herein is unconstitutional. The case is distinguishable in several respects. In Plitt, a learning disabled child was prevented from receiving educational opportunities for half of the school year due to the schools's delay in considering the educational needs of plaintiff's child. The court held that when coupled with the failure to give parents notice of the meeting at which the child's handicapping condition was considered and lack of opportunity to be heard there was denial of due process. Id. The Lorenc case is clearly distinguishable. The Lorenc children were not prevented from attending school, did not suffer similar harm during the period that the Lorenc appeal was pending, and Lorenc was given adequate notice of each appeal and an opportunity to be heard.

Even if there were significant delay involved in this case, delay alone does not give rise to a claim that due process rights have been violated. See, e.g., in United States v. Eight Thousand Eight Hundred and Fifty Dollars (\$8,850) in United States Currency, 461 U.S. 555, 76 L.Ed. 2d 143, 103 S.Ct. 2005 (1983), (an eighteen month delay in filing a civil forfeiture proceeding did not violate due process where the government's actions were explained, there was nothing to trigger a speedier

filing and claimants' ability to defend was not affected). In the Lorenc case, Granite's efforts to schedule a timely hearing are apparent and Lorenc's ability to present her claims was not impaired in the four month period. Lorenc has had ample opportunity to be heard and has not been deprived of her right to due process.

Furthermore, Lorenc should not be permitted to complain of "delays" caused in part by her and her legal counsel. McKell Withers testified at the trial concerning scheduling of the appeal hearing. (R. 209 at pp. 125-126). He stated that following the hearing on November 5, 1986, Lorenc was given an opportunity to present additional evidence, which Withers received about November 11. (R. 209 at 125). Withers then notified Mr. Plenk that the appeal hearing would be scheduled for early January. After crossing phone messages and Plenk's cancellation of two hearing dates, the hearing was finally scheduled for March 9, 1988. (R. 209 at 126). Lorenc should not now be allowed to complain of delay when scheduling difficulties were caused, at least in part, by her own counsel; particularly when only a four-month interval elapsed between the two appeal hearings.

B. Granite Gives Adequate Notice of its Waiver Policy.

Lorenc also claims that Granite does not give adequate notice of its waiver policy. Again, her claim is unfounded. In

fact, notices are given to both students and parents. The first notice was given when the class schedule for the coming school year was published in the February issue of the school newspaper in preparation for registration for the upcoming school year. (R. 209 at 64).

A second notice of the waiver policy appeared in the cover letter for registration materials which was sent directly to each student from the high school on August 4, 1986. Kenneth C. Grenier, principal at Granger High School, testified at trial that both the August 4 letter and a second letter from the district office dated July 16, 1986, were mailed to Mrs. Lorenc at the address shown in the school records. (R. 209 at 68).

Mr. David Stevens, principal at Westlake Junior High School similarly testified that the district office letter was mailed to all students registered at the school along with a letter written by Mr. Stevens. (R. 209 at 105). These letters and the newspaper article provided ample notice to Lorenc that waivers were available.

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